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Introduction: Beating the Bounds


Where is Walthamstow? Most people know it’s the last stop on the Victoria line of the Tube or that it is somewhere amid the sprawl of suburbs in north-east London. But knowing exactly where it stops and another area starts is trickier, even for the people who live there.


That wasn’t always so. For centuries a custom was performed in Walthamstow and many other rural communities called beating the bounds, in which people walked around their parish boundaries to remind them where they lay and check that neighbouring communities hadn’t encroached. Those taking part in the perambulation in the days before a detailed map existed followed hedges, trees and marker posts and relied on whatever knowledge was in the heads of the community’s oldest members.


One of the last beating of the bounds took place in June 1951 as part of the then borough’s celebration of the Festival of Britain and was organised as a good-humoured revival by the Walthamstow Antiquarian Society. The custom hadn’t been performed since 1867 when around 200 people, accompanied by a fife and drum band and bell-ringers, walked around the borders of what was a quiet parish in a largely rural corner of Essex. By 1951 things were a little different. The participants were driven parts of the way in a coach and two school buses around what had become a dormitory suburb of London, which was famous across Britain as the home of the artist William Morris and a greyhound-racing track.


In 1951 the party of schoolchildren and local history enthusiasts started at Whipps Cross at a spot near Walthamstow’s boundary with Woodford and Wanstead, where they put down a portable cardboard marker brought along for the occasion. The old ways were kept up. The schoolchildren carried willow wands and a coach horn – as the parishioners had done in 1867 – and symbolically ‘beat’ the ground with the wands around the marker post and blew the instrument to confirm where one of the ancient bounds lay. Two of the schoolboys, who were unsure of the boundary, were tamely ‘bumped’, thrown up and down by the children, and presented with a penny by the other beaters to help them remember, exactly as they would have been in the old days.


They then followed Walthamstow’s boundary – marked out by the Woodford New Road – to the Napier Arms, where they split into two groups to complete the circuit. One group, led by Frank Maynard, whose family had a long connection with Walthamstow going back many generations, took a trolleybus down Lea Bridge Road to follow the southern boundary with Leyton to the Walthamstow marshes. The larger group walked along Sunset Avenue through a remnant of forest and took the coach northwards up Hatch Lane and Larkshall Road to Rolls Cottage at Chingford Hatch, where they beat the bounds again with their wands around the cardboard post. This was Walthamstow’s northernmost boundary. As the older members watched from the vehicles, a group of beaters carried their willow wands westwards through the grounds of the British Xylonite Factory and strode along Higham Station Avenue. This area had been an isolated rural community known as Hale End until the Victorians built the railway and called the station Highams Park. The beaters continued on foot, crossing the River Ching at Chapel End and walking to Higham Hill to meet the coach at Folly Lane and beat the bounds again. They then walked up Cooper Avenue, one of the highest points in the area, from where they could look out over the water reservoirs and towards Middlesex. They then took the coach to the Ferry Boat Inn, which stood close to the River Lea, which had always been Walthamstow’s historic boundary with Tottenham, where they met Frank Maynard’s party and the Mayor and Mayoress of Walthamstow for tea.


After the cakes and sandwiches the schoolchildren, carrying their willow wands, and members of Walthamstow Antiquarian Society clambered back into the vehicles. They drove down Blackhorse Road and crossed Coppermill Lane near the High Street. The coaches and buses headed down Markhouse Road past the rows of brick housing built in the nineteenth century, which mushroomed after the railway to Walthamstow opened in 1870. Then they turned into the long straight Boundary Road, the border with the borough of Leyton, before driving back to the spot in Whipps Cross where they had started.
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Schoolchildren beat the bounds outside the Ferry Boat Inn, June 1951. (Courtesy of Vestry House Museum, London Borough of Waltham Forest)





Walking around is still a good way to learn about Walthamstow’s history and the people who have lived there. There’s the olde worlde bits the Victorians first started to put on postcards: the Ancient House, Monoux almshouses and St Mary’s Church. But even spotting a builder’s monograph on a house in Chapel End, a faded advert on a wall for an Edwardian grocery in St James Street, or a Victorian shop sign lurking beneath a modern façade in the High Street will reveal something interesting. Just strolling around, even if it’s not around the boundaries, is a good place to begin.


James Diamond, 2018




A Note on Spellings and Figures


There are many variant spellings of places and place names in Walthamstow. I chose to use Joseph Jeffreys for the person and Jeffries for the square. St James Street is also spelt with the possessive, but not in all sources and I have stuck to that form without the possessive. Not all spellings have been modernised and were spelt out as they appeared in the original source, so Marsh Street was Mershe Strete.


Pounds, shillings and pence also appear with the abbreviations l, s, d. as they do in the sources.


Abbreviations






	BM


	British Museum







	ERO


	Essex Record Office







	LMA


	London Metropolitan Archives







	TNA


	The National Archives







	WFALSL


	Waltham Forest Archives and Local Studies Library
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Man and Mammoth: From the Ice Age to the Romans


In the late 1860s two scholars at the British Museum started to visit a spot in Walthamstow where gangs of navvies were digging up an area of meadowland. Dr Henry Woodward, a palaeontologist, and his colleague Augustus Wollaston Franks, the Keeper of British and Medieval Antiquities, were eager to discover what remains might have been preserved deep in the earth.


The workmen were excavating an enormous area of land near to the old course of the River Lea to build a chain of water reservoirs and filter beds for the East London Waterworks Company. Sifting through the mounds of peat and clay scooped out as the reservoirs were dug, Woodward discovered the bones of wild horses, wolves and beavers, extinct animals that had thrived in the forest which once covered the area. Amid the deepest deposits of gravel left over from the Ice Age, when glaciers had scraped out the river channel, he found the fossilised remains of a giant-antlered reindeer and the fragments of a mammoth’s molar tooth and tusk.


That wasn’t all. The two scholars also found human skulls and bones as well as bronze spearheads, a dagger handle and earthen pots that Franks catalogued as Celtic. Woodward dug a flint scraper out of a reservoir bank with his hands and by parleying with the workmen Franks acquired an armlet and a stag’s horn club. Among the oldest Bronze Age pottery was a Deverel-Rimbury jar. Most of the pots were dated to the Iron Age and were thought to have been made by descendants of Celtic tribespeople who had migrated from the Continent and travelled along the Lea Valley.


Older artefacts have been discovered in Walthamstow. In the late nineteenth-century, Neolithic objects including hand axes were found in Higham Hill and around Hoe Street, and during the digging of the site for the borough’s electricity generating station at Exeter Road workmen found a flint axe that has been dated at around 20,000 years old. There has been a human presence in the area since the Stone Age.


The evidence for the first human settlement is less clear. The fossil collector Dr Frank Corner claimed to have found a pile-dwelling settlement at one of the reservoirs in Walthamstow. Pile dwellings, also called ‘crannogs’, were wooden structures erected on the shores of lakes and rivers and there have been discoveries of Bronze Age pile dwellings in Ireland and Scotland and East Anglia. Dr Corner reported finding timber stakes about 4ft long driven into the sand and gravel, but a sketch was the only recording. There were also apparently the remnants of pile dwellings discovered on the right bank of the old River Lea during the excavation of the Banbury reservoir in 1900 or thereabouts.


In 2017, evidence of Iron Age settlement was identified by archaeologists excavating an area alongside Vinegar Alley near St Mary’s Church. Discoveries at the site included a ring ditch, which might have encircled prehistoric dwellings, and quarrying pits. The topography of the area suited human settlement: it was a hillside capped with brick-earth, which would have been dug for pottery or building materials, and had a fertile, well-drained soil. Just as importantly, there was fresh water because springs would have bubbled up through the gravel strata offering a constant supply, and the Fillebrook stream flowed nearby. Strategically, it was a strongpoint with commanding views of the valley, and it protected homesteads from winter flooding. It wasn’t the only Iron Age settlement in the Lea Valley. Other settlements were established as hill forts at Ambresbury Banks and Loughton Camp on the ridgeway in today’s Epping Forest, although the Iron Age population of the entire Lea Valley was probably no more than 300 families or so.
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A Bronze Age spearhead discovered at the reservoirs in Walthamstow by Augustus Wollaston Franks. (© Trustees of the British Museum)





Pathways would have linked Iron Age settlements and some of the footpaths walked by the Victorians probably followed the course of Iron Age routes. The Black Path, a name which suggests a thoroughfare worn down and trod by human feet over many centuries, was until the late nineteenth century the quickest route over the meadows from Walthamstow to a crossing point at the River Lea. Stretches can still be followed today.


The first people lived in a landscape of marshland and dense forests which were natural barriers to settlement. They cleared woodland, but draining the marshes along the River Lea would have required an engineering skill probably unknown to them, and their agriculture was probably small, square fields of crops. Wild grasses in the wetlands supported pastoral agriculture and the rearing of animals. In the deposits at the reservoir Henry Woodward discovered an abundance of goat bones and the remains of British cattle, an ancient small breed, suggesting that livestock was grazing on the river foreshore. They also fished. In 2016, at a site near what was the old course of the River Lea, archaeologists uncovered what was probably the wooden remains of a Bronze Age fish trap or fishing platform.


By the first century there was an increasing sophistication in agriculture as the Iron Age farmers started to use the ox-drawn mouldboard plough to turn the clay soils and south-east England even started to export wheat. The increasing wealth and resources attracted the Romans to England, who infiltrated into the Lea Valley. Again, the Romans would have travelled along the valley because it was the quickest route into the interior as the migrating Celtic tribes had done before them. But there was now a settled agricultural community of ancient British farmers who resisted them, and according to legend Boudica fought against the Roman armies from Loughton Camp and Ambresbury Banks.


However, archaeological discoveries in Walthamstow show that over many generations the settled community was integrated into Roman society. As well as Franks’ earlier finds in 1903, Charles Hercules Read, a Keeper at the British Museum, excavated the pile dwelling site. He discovered what were probably wares from a river trade including Romano-British urns, jars, vessels and an iron knife as everyday Roman goods were used in households. He also found a Romano-British glass bead and a copper alloy trumpet brooch, suggesting that the people were adopting new styles of Roman-influenced dress.


Not all Romano-British objects found in Walthamstow have been domestic. Workmen dug up a bronze medal on a building site in Vallentin Road in 1931. The first-century token was given out as a souvenir for patrons of a circus. On one side there is the portrayal of a chariot race and on the reverse a dedication to a Roman man, presumably of high status, named Divus Nerva Traianus.


The settlement developed at the Vinegar Alley site during the Romano-British age. The 2017 excavation also uncovered, near to the ring ditch, a large Roman farmstead built within a boundary bank. The farmstead was most likely a collection of dwellings, made of timber and wattle and daub, with fields created by clearing the surrounding forest. A Roman coin and flue tiles were found, possibly indicating a high-status building with underfloor heating, or even a bathhouse in the countryside outside London.


The settlement wasn’t isolated. As well as the river, a secondary Roman road ran along the nearby ridgeway leading up towards Epping Forest, following the course of what was probably an Iron Age path. The Romans also built a road to Colchester to the south-west of the Lea Valley and it’s been suggested that the straight course of Boundary Road in Walthamstow follows the route of an old Roman road, which ran from a high point in the Essex countryside to London.
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The Roman trumpet-brooch found in Walthamstow by Charles Hercules Read. (© Trustees of the British Museum)





By about the fifth century Romano-British society had withered across the Lea Valley. By then another Roman farmstead further up the valley at Sewardstone appears to have been abandoned, as had a villa and agricultural estate at Wanstead and another high-status building in Leyton, uncovered over a 2-acre site by workmen in 1718. The farmstead at Vinegar Alley was probably also deserted by then as well.


Over many centuries the area of what is now Walthamstow had from the Bronze Age felt the presence of migrating tribespeople and had been inhabited by Iron Age farmers. In the Romano-British age farmsteads were established and the area was linked to the wider world through a currency and trading system. But from the fifth century or so, after Romano-British society had collapsed, a new people were approaching who would transform the area and give it a name.
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Wilcume’s Place: Anglo-Saxon Walthamstow


It is likely that in the fifth century or so the first bands of people speaking a Germanic dialect started to wander into the Lea Valley, and they would have discovered that cultivation had faltered at the Romano-British farmsteads in the area.


These were Anglo-Saxon tribespeople who first settled on the eastern seaboard and migrated inland. Archaeologists are now sceptical of the idea that hordes of Saxons, Jutes and Angles invaded and drove out the native Britons, a popular theory among nineteenth-century antiquarians. The newcomers are likely to have arrived in dribs and drabs over many generations rather than in a mass migration, and there was co-existence and intermingling with the settled population.


There’s material evidence from Walthamstow of the new cultures which were being introduced during this migration period. At the pile dwelling site, the British Museum’s Charles Hercules Read found Anglo-Saxon jewellery, including two rings made of twisted copper alloy wire made in the sixth century. Read also found a bird brooch, which is thought to have been Merovingian in origin, from the Frankish rulers of northern Europe. It is a fine piece of craftsmanship: the sixth-century brooch has a hooked beak with a garnet inlaid as an eye, and a tail set with a garnet. Normally, Merovingian women wore a tunic covered with a cloak, which was fastened in place with one or two brooches. The brooch and rings suggest the assimilation of Anglo-Saxon or Frankish culture, or incomers travelling along the valley routes.
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The sixth-century bird brooch found by Charles Hercules Read in Walthamstow. (© Trustees of the British Museum)





The strongest evidence for Anglo-Saxon settlement in the Walthamstow area is place names. Over generations the people of the area started to speak Old English, a new language which amalgamated Frisian and Germanic dialects with a smattering of British and Latin words. Old English names for features in the landscape survive in Walthamstow today. A ridge was a landmark in the landscape and in Old English the people used the word hoh to describe the rise of ground. The description is the origin of Hoe Street, the course of which still follows a spur of ground.


They also named their settlements. Today’s Higham Hill stems from Heah-ham, combining the Old English heah – meaning something lofty or tall – with ham for homestead. The Anglo-Saxons also used personal names to describe a settlement. On the high ground across the valley from the hill at Heah-ham was Totta’s-ham or the homestead of an Anglo-Saxon man named Totta. Further up the valley there was a place called Sigeweard’s-tun (a tun was an enclosed dwelling or homestead) after an Anglo-Saxon named Sigweard who established it. Today, it is the hamlet of Sewardstone.


About this time, the place name emerged which evolved over the centuries into today’s modern spelling of Walthamstow. So was Walthamstow a personal place name in origin as well? The favoured explanation is that travellers reaching the settlement who had walked through the dense forests used the word wilcume, meaning welcome, and stow for place, to describe the attractiveness of the area – it was the ‘welcome-place’. However, Wilcume was certainly an Anglo-Saxon female name and it’s known that there was a queen and an abbess named Wilcume as well as ordinary women with the name. Furthermore, it wasn’t unusual for an important woman in Anglo-Saxon society to have her name attached to a settlement and women did own land. In Cambridgeshire is the village of Wilburton, which evolved from Wilburg’s-tun, named after an Anglo-Saxon woman.


So there could have been a local woman named Wilcume who was the origin of the place name. In Old English stow meant ‘a locality’ and ‘a place which is built’, but place names with the Old English word stow are also often associated with meeting places for worship. While there is no written record of a Wilcume in the area, it’s possible there was an important woman who was linked to a religious meeting place. By the seventh century East Saxons had adopted Christianity so the origins of the place name Wilcume’s-stow might go back to that conversion period. Victorian antiquarians liked to believe that present-day St Mary’s Church was on the site of an earlier Saxon church.


What is certain is that the place name was spoken and passed down for many generations by local people before it was ever formally recorded or written down. Anglo-Saxon society was one of mass illiteracy in which knowledge of place names was circulated by word-of-mouth, at first in the immediate area to identify a particular settlement and then, gradually, it spread outside the locality.


So what did the Anglo-Saxon settlements look like? They were originally probably just a scattering of farmsteads or homesteads in which people of the same kinship group lived. They were made up of granaries, outbuildings, animal enclosures and workshops, as well as rectangular wood-framed dwellings with thatched roofs. To create fields, they worked outwards, cutting down the encircling forest. Their cattle and pigs grazed on the seedlings in the undergrowth, thus stopping the regeneration of the woodland. There’s no archaeological evidence in today’s Walthamstow, as yet, of where Anglo-Saxon settlements might have been located. A natural spot was the Vinegar Alley site; however, no remains from as late as the fifth to sixth centuries were found in 2017. But dwellings in the early Anglo-Saxon period were built in wood and goods were made of textiles and leather, so they are less likely to have survived the centuries.


However, more evidence of people living in the area during the Anglo-Saxon period has been found near the old River Lea. In 1900, labourers digging up Mitchley Marsh to build the reservoirs discovered a 15ft-long dugout boat hewn from a trunk of oak and, lying inside, was a punting pole. The craft had probably been tethered to a bank and swept away. In 1901 members of the Essex Field Club who inspected the boat, which had been stored away in a shed at the reservoirs, believed it was prehistoric. But recent carbon dating shows the oak was felled in the local forests between the seventh and ninth century. Dugout boats have also been found at Sewardstone and further downstream of the River Lea at Clapton. They were used for trading and fishing on the river and as a way of travelling between the settlements throughout the Anglo-Saxon period.
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